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INTRODUCTION

From the arrival of the immigrant ancestor in Charlestown sometime in or before 1647 to the
death of Eugene Wilmoth Pike in Lexington, Massaachusetts on 8 September, 1980 there was a

span of some 333 years. Since Eugene was an only child and died childless, his branch of the
family died with him.

As of September 1980, however, Eugene’s grandfather William Dana Pike had descendants to the
sixth generation. For the benefit of his great, grest, great, great grandchildren who some day
may want to research their family history | am putting down what | know. My sources are what
Eugene told me about his and his parents' early lives, the extensive genealogical notes his
father, Frank H. Pike, left from his research in libraries and correspondence during the 1920's
and again in the 1940's, and the research, primarily into family happenings and their
contemporary setting, which | have done since 1980.

The Last Two Generations

Eugene'” was born on 26 January, 1909 so eager to begin life he arrived in Chicago rather
than achieving the Vermont birthplace his father intended. His mother was gravely ill of

eclampsia and Eugene got off to a poor start physically. This to some extent dogged him all his
his life. Pictures after fifteen months, however, show him a cute and chubby little fellow.

At some point in his childhood his mother resumed her career of high school Latin teacher. His
father's professional life was also devoted to teaching, most of it at Columbia University's
medical school. In early childhood Eugene shuttled back and forth between his family's home in
Tenafly, N.J. or apartment in New York City and (with his mother) the home of his maternal
grandmother and uncle in Pratt, Kansas. These changes of residence reflected family happenings
which caused temporary separation, such as Frank Pike's service in a8 base hospital in France
during World War |, and also family discord.

All this shuttling between homes and schools and peer groups can hardly have been good for
Eugene. Pictures taken in later childlhood show a serious, almost troubled expression , from
which may have come his lifelong nickname “Doc”. Or that may have come instead from his
serious, old-for-his-years interests. Anexample is a six-page letter from Eugene at age eleven
to his father , written on 17 May, 1920. It tells that for some time he has been drawing plans for
an improvement on the gasoline motor and that if it works he'll get rich quickly. The motor
"powerful enough to drive an ordinary car would weigh S or 6 pounds and go about 75 miles toa
gallon.” He thinks it is “admirably adapted” to airplanes because of light weight, high speed, and
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low fuel consumption. He includes a diagram and asks his father to be thinking about it and
when they get back together they'll patent it if it is worth patenting. Such a letter written by an
eleven -year-old today might not be noteworthy except perhaps for the sbsence of computer
terminology, but this was 1920.

Eugene attended Lincoln School, a preparatory school in New York City. The 1925 yearbook
shows that he achieved honors in the fields of physics and mathematics . He majored in physics
at Harvard University, graduating magna cum laude in 1929. He did graduate work at Princeton,
spending one year of study in German universities, and received his Ph.D. in physics from
Princeton in 1934.

His professional career was devoted to defense work at various laboratories, the last being
M.I.T.’s Lincoln Laboratory. Almost all of his work was classified and secret. The skills he
employed were those of physicist, statistician and systems analyst. His ability at rapid reading
and assimilation and his rich, associative memory earned him &8 middle-life nickname of
“science-a-week-Pike.”

We met in Boston when he was self-employed on two consulting contracts, in Boston and New
York City, and | was a member of the faculty of Boston College School of Social Work. We were
married on 14 September, 1948 in Indianapolis, my parents’ home. The next twenty-three
years were the best of both our lives. In 1971 he began having a series of strokes. Individually
slight but with cumulative effect, they nibbled away at his mobility and eyesight. His pluck in
fighting back made him an inspiration to friends and neighbors. One of them applied to him
Albert Camus’s besutiful words: "in the midst of winter | finally learned that there was in me an
invincible summer.”

Eugene had a photographic memory and therefore a phenomenal store of information. He loved
the outdoors, was skilled in the use of many kinds of tools, was inventive and productive, a
witty, humorous conversationalist, a person who made friends --and sometimes enemies--
easily, and kept the friends all his life. For his last twenty-five years he was active in the
affairs of the Follen Community Church of Lexington, held administrative and service positions,
received the first of their annual "Good Cookie of the Year" awards in 1979. Of this he wrote in
his fiftieth class reunion biography “I'd swap it for a Nobel - - but not a lot else.”

Erank H. °Pike. One of the things for which Eugene most revered his father was the latter's
readiness to take seriously any question he asked, any reach of his mind. Whether right or

wrong in this estimate, Eugene thought that his father's intellectual gifts exceeded his own. Both

parents were, unquestionably, well endowed mentally. Both had a hunger for learning and
achieving, and both took the route of alternating teaching in a small town or country school with

periods of study to complete their own high school education or to attend normal school and
college in summer terms. They met as a result of their parallel paths. Sue's brother Fred Reece
and Frank Pike were colleagues teaching in the Yalparaiso, Indiana high school around the turn
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of the century. Frank met and became friends with Sue that summer when all three were
attending Chicago University. But I'm getting ahead of the story.

Frank Pike, born in Aurora, I1linois on 20 January, 1876, had some adventuresome years
before turning serious student. There is a legend that the Pike boys left home in their teens,
escaping the family farm for a taste of the wider world. Harry delayed his exodus so that he and
Frank, the last of the boys, could set out together when Frank was fifteen. They went to
Colorado to homestead in Montrose County near the Black Canyon of the Gunnison River.
Cattlemen, used to the freedom of the range and in no mood to allow homesteaders to fence and
farm the land, kept tearing down the fences. Before this feuding should turn to open gunfire
Harry persuaded Frank to give up homesteading for a safer livelihood.

For Frank this led first to a job as “train butcher” on the Denver-Rio Grande ( narrow gauge)
railroad from Durango to Silverton -- a good run made profitable by the silver mining which
had created Silverton and developed it into a lively center. Later Frank joined the Ouray County
survey team, still later returned to the Midwest to work his way through high school and college
to his professional career. Family tradition has it that at one time he was teaching in one school,
completing courses for his high school diploma in another and earning college credits at normal
school all in the same time span.

By the fall of 1902 Frank and Sue hed all the necessary preliminary credits and both enrolled in
Indiana University for the year of residence required for graduation. Fred meanwhile stayed on,
teaching at Yalparaiso, to serve as a financial backstop for the other two if anything should go
wrong. They received their degrees in 1903 (and Fred, his, in 1904). Frank enrolled that fall
in graduate school at Chicago University, while Sue took a teaching position in Escanaba, Mich.

He recaeived his Ph.D. degree in 1907, accepted a position as instructor at Chicago University,
and married Sue on 24 June of that year. Four years later he was appointed to an sssociate
professorship in the physiology department, College of Physicians and Surgeons, Columbis
University. He remained there until his retirement in 1941, continuing active in research and

85 & special lecturer for the physiology department until a few months before his death on
13 November, 1953,

His work on respiration, epilepsy, and the evolution of the vertebrate nervous system brought
him international recognition among scientists. The oldest extant bibliography of his
publications, dated 1920, lists 66 titles ( in physiology, biology and neurophysiology) which had
been published in several languages in the period 1906-1920. The succeeding years found him
equally productive in research and publication. His papers, letters and laboratory notes are now
preserved in the library of the American Philosophical Society in Philadelphia.

He inspired admiration and almost worshipful affection on the part of his more able students. He

was a man of quiet humor and, at least by the time | knew him when he was seventy-three, a man

of pleasing contradictions. Thin as a dry lesf and often bundled in a winter coat even in summer,

he belied his austere appearance with flashes of humor or some very human trait or gentleness.
Rl



Strong ties held Frank and his brothers close together no matter how widely scattered they
became. Charles was out of the home by the 1880 census, lived in Arizona and in Colorado. He
came back to Plainfield in 1886 to be married; returned with his bride to the West. They were
located in Hotchkiss, Colorado in the 1900 census. Cherles was practicing law there and
operating a large cattle farm or ranch (with the help of a young Wisconsin-born laborer who
lived in the home). About 1913 they sold their Colorado properties and moved to
California,where they lived out their days. His Sen Gabriel law practice and an orange grove
kept Charles employed. Family photographs preserve a record of visiting back and forth.

Charles must have been the lodestar drawing Harry and Frank to Colorado in their sesson of
Western Fever. Charles drew Harry at a later period too when, having studied dentistry and
practiced in Plano, Kendall County, I1linois, Harry concluded that he was not meant for living
and working in town. Charles invited Harry to bring his family, now including two little girls,
Frances and Lola, and take charge of the fruit ranches Charles was developing in Delta and
Cedaredge, Colorado. The five years spent in this enterprise, from 1908 to 1913 evidently
confirmed-Harry as a farmer. When he returned to the Midwest it was to a farm in Bangor,
Michigan, where his third and last child, Charles, was born in 1914 and lives today.

Edgar reached the same conclusion as between town and country, but came to it more directly.
After completing his secondary education at Jennings Seminary in Aurora, he started college but
interrupted it mid-course, to take over the family farm in Plainfield and teach school in winter
terms, like his father before him. To him It was important to keep the home in the family
where the others might return for renewal. His young wife concurred in this thinking. But it
was not to be as they planned. She diedon 20 Dec. 1906, two days after the birth of their sixth
child.

Edgar James was devastated. He lived little more than three years, dying (in a Chicago
hospital) on 13 April, 1910. According to his obituary: “The last years of his life were
darkened by the untimely death of his wife, for whom he never cessed to mourn. The great
dependence he placed upon her in the affairs of his daily life, and the burden of caring for
children who needed the mother's care made him feel her loss more keenly. Brooding upon her
death and worry due to circumstances over which he had no control undermined his health and
made him more easily attacked by the malady which caused his death. .....Overtaken by death
before the course of his life was fully run, and compelled to lay down the burden before he had

reached the storehouse, it is to the children that we must look for the completion of the life work
of this man.”

A heavy burden to place upon & family of grieving children! But they came
through--handsomely. Though Myrtle a senior, Bess a sophomore in high school, and Howard
& lad of twenty-three had the responsibility for three children age thirteen to three, they
refused urgent offers to adopt the younger children, determined to keep the family together.
With the help of a housekeeper they did a superb job of it, even to seeing all the children through

college.
v




Susan Hattie (Harriet) Reece was born 3 Oct. 1871 in Marion, Ind., the daughter of Joel
Reece, of Welsh descent, and Myra Seward, of English-Dutch extraction. Joel, originally a farm
boy in Marion, became a newspaper editor with a "knack"” --according to his son Fred-- of
“going into a small town with no paper, organizing one, making a success of it, then selling it to a
hometown man, usually one with political ambitions.” So it happened in three Indiana towns,
then in two Kansas towns before he switched to being editor of the Populist Party newspaper,
the Pratt Union before his death at age sixty-one.

Sue obviously knew from first-hand experience what the frequent uprootings her son would
experience could cost a child.

Sue’'s mother was a school teacher and college student until her marriage to Joel ended those
careers and ushered in another, that of Kansas pioneer woman.. It required a sturdy physique
and spirit.  The family during Sue’'s pre-teen years were “soddies”, living in houses whose
walls were laid up of the tough Kansas virgin sod, the area being almost devoid of timber. The
second of their sod houses, from 1885 to 1890, was near Leesburg, Kansas, where they were
homesteading and “proving up” the claim to their 160 acres. There they lived out the grest
blizzard of 7 Jan. 1886, keeping warm by burning grain corn,-- cheaper than buying other
fuel at the 10 cents a bushel corn was bringing on the market.

Sue is remembered as being skilled at breaking horses to drive or saddle. She began teaching at
seventeen in county and town schools, at first near home in Kansas, later in lowa and Indiana, in
Michigan after easrning her A.B.degree, and in & private academy in Hoboken, N.J. after her
marriage to Frank.

| never knew her. She died S Dec. 1943, before Gene and | met. There are many family
photographs showing her growing from lovely young girl to attractive young woman, and there
are many things | would have liked to talk about with her. | have grasped at bits of information
and glimpses into her personality, trying to know her. Relatives and friends speak warmly and
lovingly: "Aunt Sue was so nice to have around-- so dignified but so kind and thoughtful”.

One of my treasures is a letter she wrote to Gene in Princeton on his twenty-fourth birthday:

" ... Naturally, | have been thinking much of the days when you were a little fellow struggling for
the right to live and | fighting to keep you; through the days when you were one of the most
interesting little boys it has been my lot to know; through your school days, when it was my
chief interest to watch your progress; up to more recent years when you have been our great
Joy and pride and one of the dearest big boys it has been my good fortune to know. No, no charge.
I"11 collect a kiss next time | see you. Many more happy birthdays, dear Boy."

It must have been Sue who kept, along with family photographs, the dinner menu from 24 June,
1907 at the St. Charles Hotel, Milwaukee. She seems a person who would want a memento of the
honeymoon hotel-- and not less so if Frank, fresh out of graduate school, could afford its
American-plan prices for one day only.
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Edgar James Pike (in lower right hand corner) with his children
in 1907: Howard at center back, Helen at his right; Myrtle,
Grace and Bess in front of Howard, Harvey beside his father.

Frank H. Pike, in 1952, takes a breather on the climb to his fifth floor apartment in New York City




THE BEGINNING IN CHARLESTOWN AND READING

James ! Pike is first found in the Charlestown records of 1646-7, an Englishman and Puritan.
member of one of the two groups of disapproving and reforming Englanders involved in the early
settiement of the New England colonies. The P1igrims founded their colony at Plymouoth in
1620; the Puritans followed only a little later with three settlements in the Massachusetts Bay
area,-- at Salem (originally called Naumkeag) in 1626, Charlestown in 1628 and Boston,
1630. Pilgrim and Puritan alike had religious motivations in leaving England for the new world.

The Pilgrims were separatists, who rejected the authority of the Church of England and left
their homeland seeking freedom of conscience and worship. They went first to Holland in 1607
(to Amsterdem and later Leyden), lived and worshipped there before proceeding to America
thirteen years later. Their intended destination was an area south of New York, for which they
held a patent from one of the Southern Companies. Their chance settlement in Plymouth, without
any charter to the land, meant that someone had to be sent back to England (and was, in 1621) for
a patent from one of the Northern Companies.

The Puritans, less alienated, continued as communicants of the established church but found
some of its doctrines and practices in need of reform. They came to America for the freedom and

opportunity to make those reforms. Although the Massachusetts Bay Company's stockholders had
initially seen their enterprise as a trade and colonization scheme, they quickly changed
direction on recognizing the potential for a religious and political refuge. Their company's
patent to the Bay area was part of a grant made to the Northern Company. Governor Winthrop's
history of the colony states that few Puritans arrived after 1641 because the English Parliament
was then undertaking religious and governmental reforms which gave them hope of finding a
satisfactory religious life in the mother country. After 1691 the Plymouth Colony was merged
with the larger Massachusetts Company and colony.*

James Pike may have been one of those who arrived after 1641, with the first record of him here
dating to 1646-7. He and his early descendants were all of Puritan origin, duly recorded as
being in full communion with the church. Eventuslly the Pilgrim heritage was added to the
family line thl;&.ﬂ'l intermarriage with the Bliss, Peck and Willmot families of southern
Massachusetts.

® Conklin, Edwin P., [liddlesex Counly and ils People. A History Vol I p. 24 Lewis
Hist. Publ. Co. Inc. N.V. 1927

"™ Thomas snd Dority (Whestlis) Bliss came to Rehoboth, Ms. sbout I636. Joseph and
Rebecca (Clark) Peck of Beccles, England came lo Rehobolh in 1638. Thomas Willmotl
came lo America in /1638, resided al Brainlree and Rehobolh, m. Elizabeth Bliss.




Only a fraction of early passenger lists have survived, and James's name is not among them.

Though each new publication of a discovered list should open the question again, it is probable
that we shall never know what vessel brought him to America, nor the time nor place of his
good-byes to an English past for an only- to-be-guessed-at New England future.

We also know very little about his life in Charlestown. The earliest record placing him there is
that of the birth of his firstborn: 'Spi@t.dunes, sonne of James Spight, borne 1 (11) 1646 (or
by the revised calendar, 1 Jan. 1647). Next the Record *B*ouk of the First Church in Charles-
town shows him admitted to the churchon 3 March, 1647.  James continued to be 8 member
of the Charlestown church in 1683, thirty years after moving to Reading, 8s will be shown
later. Thirdly, the Records of the Colony of lhe /Massachusells Bay in New Lngland
(Vol. 2 p. 163) show him made freeman at Charlestown on 26 May 1647. Freeman status was
conferred by the General Court of the colony and was a prerequisite to voting privileges. It was
dependent upon reguler attendance and good standing in the church and the taking of the oath of
allegiance to the government. By the time James acquired voting rights -~ actually from 1630
on -- the right extended only to electing the governor's assistants. These men in turn elected the
governor and his deputy. The fourth and final record of James in Charlestown is even more
cryptic: In Wyman we find, “ Spigh, Spight, Spike, James, Charlestowne -- Reading.
m.( signifying “married” in this publication). J.S. was paid 8s,8d, 1652".

Wyman ties together several of the variant spellings of the Pike name in this entry. James's
surname was also spelled Pyke, Peake, Pick, Pieck and otherwise in early records. Seventeenth
century spelling was strictly “byear”. Someof the confusion as to the number and names of
James's children may be related to variations in the spelling of the surname. *¥**

* Wyman, Thomas Bellows, Genealogies and Eslales of Charlestown . p.702, David
Clapp & Son, Boston, 1879

*%Found on p. 2 of the Record Book. The Covenant proposed for consent by lhe
persons seeking admission ran: “You doe avouch the only lrue God (Falher Son &
Holy Ghost) lo be your God sccording lo the lenour of the Covenant of his grace,

wherein he promiseth lo be & God lo lhe raithfull & lhelr seed arter them In their
generations, & lakelh them Lo be his people, and accordingly therefore you do give up
yoursell to him, & doe solemnly & rellglously, as In NS most holy préesence,

covenant, through his grace, lo walk in all your waies, & in communion wilth this
particular Church in speciall, as & member of il, according Lo the rules of lhe
Gospell”. James's name (here spelled Pike) and names of olhers asdmitted on 3 /March
1647-8 are lfound on page 9.

®%%/r you have lrouble converting James Pike into James Spike, lry recalling the
/940's popular song Marezy doles n dozey doles n liddle /ambzydivey.a kiddle e
divey too,wouldnt you?". Lilley Eaton in his Geneslogical History of Lhe Town of
Reading. Alfred Mudge & Son. 1874, p.28B comments regarding an eleven-line entry in
the town records, ‘It will be noticed as a lilerary curiosity in the above nole thal
the Clerk spelled his Pastor's name in f[our different ways, and thal neither was
correct.” Emphasis in the original.




Clifford L. Pike of Saco, Maine, who was engaged for some years before his death in preparing a
genealogy of the various families of Pike surname in America, reasoned that James may have
come to the Massachusetts Colony as early as 1640, in view of the fact that a Tabatha Pike, maid
servant to Richard Bellingham, was admitted to the church in Boston on | September 1640.
Clifford Pike proposed that she may have been a sister or other relative of James. She was not
his wife. Several other branches of Pikes had reached the Massachusetts Bay Colony before
1641, however , including Robert, who came to Boston 4 June, 1635 accompanied by his son John
and three deughters ( none of them named Tabatha).

It is not known whether James was married when he came to America. Clifford Pike suggests
that James was unmarried when admitted to the church since his wife was not admitted with
him. At some time he married Neomi (). Several historians state that he also had a
wife Sarah. The surnames, respective marriage dates, which wife was the mother of which
children, the dates of desth-- all are either lacking or confused. There is an undocumented
report of the death of “wife of James Pike" in 1682; a statement in reference to James, ( Eaton,
op cit. p. 106): “His wife Serah died 1693.” If both statements are to be accepted, Naomi was
the first wife and mother of the children, and the second marriage was a late-life union.
Reading's VR's do nothing to clear it up. Their entry reads: Pike wife of James died
April — 1692.  The unnamed wife here and in the undocumented report above raises the
possibility of a double entry for a single event and an error in copying the date. Both names,
Naomi and Sarah, appear as given names for the female descendants of James, but they were
popular given names then in many families.

Cutter in New fngland Families * states unequivocally of James: “He married (first) Neomi
—, (second) Sersh ~who died April 16, 1692.  In his foreword to this
four-volume work Cutter implies that his principal sources are the then (1915) living
descendants of the pioneers chronicled.

We know that James moved with his family to Reading before | Jan. 1653-4, when the birth of
his son John is noted in the Reading YRs. We know also that James owned land in Reeding by 2
Jan. 1653 because the record of several gifts of town lands to Nathaniel Cutler on that day

decribes one gift parcel in Birchen Meadow &s bounded on the north side by the meadow of James
Pike.

Thanks to Eaton and his researches into the early town records we know a little something about
James's life and that of his family and fellow townsmen in Reading. The first colonial settlers of
what was to become Reading arrived in 1639, receiving land grants from the General Court of
~ the colony and occupying land which in part or whole had formerly been the hunting grounds of
the Saugus tribe of Indians. Some twenty stockholders who had advanced money for establishing
the colony received land grants in tracts of 100 to 800 acres each. Forty-eight colonists who

“Cutter,Wm.Richard Newkngland Families.Gensslogical and [lemerial Vol. 1.p.19/9-20,
Lewis Historical Publ. Co., 19/5. This is the only record | have found giving an exact
April dale for lhe dealh.



had not advanced money to the company but had come at their own expense received grants of 40,

60, or 80 acres each. Division of common lands made after 1640 were proportioned to the
amount of property an inhabitant already owned.

Besides these stockholders and colonists directly from England, many of the early settiers came,
like James, from other towns in the Bay Colony: from Watertown, Dedham, Charlestown, and
Roxbury. Reading (or Redding) was never apart of Lynn, but Lynn was given responsibility
for planting the new settlement and a grant of land for that purpose by the General Court.
Selection of suitable families was taken very seriously since the Puritan fathers were seeking a
firm foundation for their experiment in self government in New England. Many meetings, much
planning and consultatioin went into the decision making, and the process wes not hurried. The
town was incorportated in 1644; the church, organized in 1645; and deacons and selectmen
chosen only in 1647. The first distritutiun of common land was made to individuals in 1647
Some of the original Grantees of 1638 sold their lands later, not wishing to develop them.”

The town consists of about thirty square miles, located ten to fifteen miles northwest of Boston.
Reading, originally called Linn Yillage, had its first settlement in the area which today is called
Wakefield. It is this, the First Parish area, which is associated with James and his descendants.
Two other village centers or parishes, called Reading and North Reading, were settled by the
close of the 1600's.

Today, with the town closely built up and only its ponds easily distinguishable es landmarks, we
‘have to accept on faith Eaton's attractive word picture of what the first colonists found. “The
entire territory is agreeably diversified with hill and plain, woodland and meadow, lake and
river. There are no lofty eminences, its soil is gererally fertile and productive. There is a fair
share of water scenery. Two rivers meander through the town, and they along with lakes and
ponds provided water for esrly corn and sawmills and the factrories whwh would come later,
besides furnishing ‘'much romantic scenery and many fine building sites.”™

The settiement was still being hacked out of the wilderness by the time James and his family

arrived. Indeed, as late as 1687 bounties were being paid by the town for the killing of adult or
cub bears in the town limits. In 1665 a herdsman was appointed for taking care of the cattle
upon the town common and for securing them from the wolves, and securing the meadow “that

the cattel may not eat up and destroy in the somer what should be for them in the winter. ™

There were other hazards of life in early Reading besides bears and wolves. A "great earthquake”
occurred in 1658-9. There is record in the 1660's of the death penalty for witchcraft and
for profession of Quaker beliefs. After one hanging for the latter offense the court ordered that
thereafter the penalty would instead be flogging, branding, and for the third offense banishment

under penalty of death. The witchcraft hysteria penetrated Reading again in 1692 at the time of
the Salem trials; four women were arrested, imprisoned and tried in Reading but were acquitted.

* Lalonlilley. op. cit.




In 1668 the town ordered that "no man after this date shall come into the town, here to inhabit,
without the consent of the town, but he shall be put in security, to secure the town of all charges
that shall come thereby.” in 1691 three men were warned out of town, a "ceremony”, says Eaton,
performed from time to time for many years in relation to such newcomers as in the opinion of
the town, were likely to need pecuniary assistance.

In 1680 Reading was “"presented” to the General Court for deficit in their highways and for want
of a Grammar School. The town was given till the April court session to make answer and bring a
certificate that the schoolmaster was "sufficient” as the law required.

The first law regarding education in the Massachusetis colony had been passed in 1642,
requiring that every township after it had grown to fifty households appoint a teacher for such
children as came to him. The teacher’s wages wergto be paid either by the parents or masters of
such children or by the inhabitants in general. = The teacher was charged with teaching the
children to write and read. If a town grew to 100 families or households a grammar school must
also be set up to prepere youth for the university. The gremmar school of thet day included
Greek and Latin in its curriculum. The law required establishment of schools but not
compulsory attendance, and it is clear that attendance was not universal from the prevalence of
“his/her mark" in place of signatures on legal documents well into the 1700s. The time lag

was somewhat greater where women were concerned.

In 1693 Reading voted that a Free School should be kept in the town, the first evidence of a public
town school . This apparent tardiness in education for the young was in interesting contrast to
an action of 1664 when 39 proprietors of Reading paid a tax calculated as equal to 360 days’
wages toward rebuilding the “College in Cambridge™ (Harvard College) after a devastating fire.
Another case of whose ox was being gored?

All the second generation Pike children and many of the third generation--- the two oldest
surviving children of Jeremish 2 and three of the nine children of James2--must have received
in Reading whatever education they hed. Younger children, like Jeremish's Neomy and
William, who went on to Framingham's schools probably fared no better. Framingham too was
“presented” to the Court for inadequate provision for schooling.

The name Pike is not included in the 1652 list of settlers who shared in the Payne land grant of
that year, each lot amounting to three-fourths of a square mile. Eaton states that this is the
earliest complete list of male inhabitants of Reading to be found. In 1655 James appears among
those who drew lots in the division of Jeremish Swayne's meddow ( s/¢./, and again in 1658

among the male inhabitants who received plots of Upland on the north side of the Ipswich River,

¥Conklin, Edwin P., op. cit. Vol | p. 209



“8s it fell to them by lott". James's share in the latter distribution was 40 akers. In 1666 he
was among those who drew land in the Division of the Great Swamp. Here the inhabitants’ names
are given along with their “minister” rates for the preceding year, thus indicating their relative
financial standing. James's raete was 1L .4s.7d., which placed him just below the median
inhabitant, twenty -seventh among a total fifty-six.

In 1667 the town took an exclusionary action, ordering “that all privileges of land, timber, and
common shall belong only to present houses now erected and to no other, that shall be erected
hereafter.” Fifty-nine houses had been erected by then. One of them belonged to James.

When King Philip’s War began in 1675 , the town Ievied taxw to raise money for men and
material, five rates in 1675 and six in l677 In some 3, according to Howard, these taxes
amounted to more than the valuation of the property.” dames s Son, James 2, was among those
who entered military service. He survived and returned to Reading.

The record book of the First Parish church of Reading has the following account of an altercation
in 1683 between James ! and Nat Cutler. Since part of Nat's land in Birchen Meadow bounded
James's meadowland, as shown earlier, it appears that the “few cocks of hay” may really have
represented a8 boundary dispute:

“Brother Nat. Cutler having grieved Some brethrin in prosecuting a complaint yt hee mad
against Br. Pike a member of Charlistowne church that he might be bound to ye pesse for
bresking his head they being both in & quarrilling passion about a few cocks of hay, the said
brethrin laying hold of the case as within their reach & giving serious warnings they persuaded
be first reconciled in private. Brother Pike being first in acknowledgment they professed &
endeavoured reconciliation but after 8 time Br Pike according to advice made an essay 3 times
by word & writeing to Satisfy the congregation. Br. Cutler (ye day yt hee had a dead corps ét
home) with others were putt to silence. "*¥

An interesting sidelight to this dispute, in which James seems to have been the readier of the two
to make peacs, is the fact that his son Jasmes and Nat's deughter Hannah had been married in 1681
and by 1683 had 8 son. The young couple continued living in Reading while their fathers
quarreled, and would go on living there another ten or mmyenrs

* Howard,Losa Parker Ibe Beginning of Reading and Lynnlield/lass. p.55 . 1937
“w Church Records of the Old Town of Reading. [1a.. Wakefleld Historical Soc. /954

“* Another interesting sidelight is that exaclly two hundred years /aler, /663, in
Plainfield, [/llinois bro. Wm. D. Pike and bro. Sanford S. Schofield” had the help of
their (Methodist) church in settling a dispule of no grealer moment. Bul perhaps
that should wait Ltill we come to it, noting here only that the American propensily
for Ilitigation which has occasioned so much head-shaking Uhis last quarter cenlury
has a long, even hallowed, history.



In 1686 an assessment was levied to raise the sum of 10 £.16s for land conveyed by the Saugus
Indians to the white settlers and never paid. James and his sons James? and Jeremish were
assessed, their amounts ranging from 7d for the father to 3d for the younger son and placing all
three men in the lowest quartile in the population of 89 for this assessment. It is a question
whether J ames's circumstances had worsened or whether other factors entered, such as the
proportionate acreage a settler had acquired from the original purchase.

Two years later when a subscription was taken up for a new meeting house the three Pikes
subscribed. James's contribution of 2L 1Ss placed him forty-first among 68 subscribers.
(Five additional contributors' amounts (among them that of James 2) had become illegible by
the time Eaton studied the town records and are disregerded in this calculation.

In December 1690 Jeremish? was appointed by the town to assist twenty-one year old James
Stimson, who along with his widowed mother had appeared before the Selectmen “complayning to
them that her house is not habitable, by reason of the stoop falling done ( s/z/. her husband. Dr.
James, had recently deceased; .... and together they prayed for aid in securing their corne and
provision.” Jeremish's charge was to assist the son in removing “ the corne and provisions to
the house of Sergt. John Parker, and to instruct and oversee the said James, that he doth improve
his time in carefull tending of the cattell, and providing fire wood convenient, that his mother
may not suffer; also to advise and order him in managing his affairs, that he makes neither
strip nor waste of hi;,sE father's estate, until there is further order tsken and a settlement of the
estate by the Court.”

Another general division of lands, the Pine Swamp on the Easterly and Westerly sides of the
town, was made in February 1691-2. James Pike “Sr. and Jr.” are recorded 8s having drawn
the fifth lott and having received seven acres, forty poles. Jeremiah was twenty-fifth in this
drawing and received three acres. Participants’ names were listed according to their minis-
terial tax assessment; James placed slightly below the median,-- thirty-fifth among 77 men.

In the 1690's James , widowed and approeching his own death, began selling his Reading
holdings to non-family members, foreshadowing the removal of his descendents to newer towns
in Massachusetts. The Middlesex probate record of deeds (Bk. 8, p.508) shows that James ' “of
Redding” for and in consideration of 4 Pounds in current money of New England paid by Thomas
Bancroft of Redding conveyed to the latter a tract of land lying within the town bounderies. This
deed was recorded 1 June 1683-4, James signing with his mark. These records (Bk. 14, p 582)
further show that on 2 March, 1692 James deeded to James Bowell (Bowholls) Sr., in
consderation of 3 pounds paid in hand, one part of a swamp lott... by estimation three acres and a
half in the township of Redding and commonly called the grest Swamp. This deed implies an
earlier conveyance because one of the boundaries of the Bowholls tract is designated ss a “part
of the Swamp that was former1ly the aforesaid James Pike's and the 16 acres which now belong to
the heirs of Matthew Edwards.”

'f:taﬂ, op.cit. p.36




The town records make mention of John Temple's succeeding his father “on the old place his

father had bought of James Pike in 1696." There is acknowledgement on 31 August, 1696 of the
land of Robert Ken given him by James Pike senior, being six acres....." The deed for this land
had been granted 8 Sept. 1694 *

Finally, a deed signed by Zachari